ON APPEAL TO THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEAL OF FORDAL

ROBERT D. GLOCK, II,

SID J. WHITE MAR 11 1985

Appellant,

vs.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Appeal No. 89, 380 Mun . Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from a Death Sentence imposed by the Circuit Court, Sixth Circuit.

> William G. Dayton Post Office Box 1883 Dade City, Florida 34297-1883 Attorney for Appellant (904) 567-9223

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 16, 1983, in an orange grove at Townsend Road, Pasco County, Florida, two schoolgirls discovered the dead body of a woman and reported their discovery to law enforcement officers. (R1662-1666). The ensuing investigation identified the woman as Mrs. Sherilynn Richie and determined that she had been killed by gunshot wounds (R1669-1723, 1827-1829). The wounds had been caused by a .38 calibre pistol, identified at trial as the same pistol found on August 20, 1983, in the glove box of a vehicle stopped on the New Jersey turnpike by Trooper William Moore of the New Jersey State Police (R1738-1750, 1752-1757). The vehicle's occupants were the Appellant, Robert Glock, and his co-defendant in the court below, Carl Puiatti (R1771-1772).

The day before, in Columbia, South Carolina, Appellant had pawned a citizen's band radio known to have been in Mrs. Richie's possession at the time of her abduction (R1887-1891). Earlier, they had pawned some of the woman's jewelry in Orlando, Florida (R1938-1939).

Trooper Moore's initial reason for stopping the vehicle was that its license plate was illegible, a violation of New Jersey law (R1770). Neither occupant of the vehicle could produce a valid driver's license and, when Mr. Puiatti opened the glove box in search of the vehicle's registration papers, Moore observed the butt of a handgun and proceeded to search the vehicle and arrest

its occupants for illegal possession of weapons (R1771-1778). They were first advised of their constitutional rights at that time (R1785-1787).

While being held in Morristown, New Jersey, Appellant and Mr. Puiatti were questioned by New Jersey authorities, who had by then learned that the vehicle was reported stolen and it's owner a homicide victim (R1789-1795). Advised again of his rights, Appellant stated that he had taken the vehicle at knife point, released its owner "some ways down the road" and then proceeded to pick up Puiatti and head for New York. (R1797). Puiatti, during this initial questioning, told a similar story (R1799).

The next day, at the Burlington County Jail, after arrival of detectives from the Pasco County Sheriff's Office, Appellant was again, advised of his rights and questioned a second time. This time he confessed that, acting with Mr. Puiatti, he had participated in the killing of Mrs. Richie. Mr. Puiatti, being told by the detectives that Appellant had "given a statement" about the killing, made a confession similar to Appellant's. Both of these confessions were repeated that evening and tape-recorded (R1802-1806, 1830-1833).

Appellant and Mr. Puiatti both signed consent-to-search forms regarding the vehicle (1806-1807). The resulting search discovered a number of items pertaining to the decedent (R1850-1853). After being returned to Florida, both Appellant and Mr. Puiatti assisted investigating officers at the crime scene (R1842-1844).

These initial confessions involved a variance, each blaming the other as to who had proposed the killing and as to who fired

which of the shots (R1865-1867).

Later, on August 24, 1983, Appellant and Mr. Puiatti made a joint statement, in the presence of Sheriff's detectives and a court reporter. (R1905-1944). This confession described how the two captured Mrs. Richie and her car, at gunpoint, at a shopping mall near Bradenton and forced her to withdraw \$100.00 through her bank's drive-in teller, they then proceeded to an orange grove near Dade City, where Mrs. Richie was released with her purse and some other belongings. In this joint confession, Puiatti stated and Appellant agreed that, after driving away, they turned around at Appellant's suggestion and returned for the purpose of killing Mrs. Richie. According to the joint confession, Puiatti fired first then turned the car around to drive past the woman again, when Appellant shot her. On seeing that she was still standing, they drove past a third time and Appellant shot her again. They also admitted pawning Mrs. Richie's jewelry, in Ocala, and the c.b. radio from her automobile, in Columbia, South Carolina, on their way North. They also admitted that the butt of their pistol had been visible to Trooper Moore when Mr. Puiatti opened the glove box. The joint confession also recited Appellant's and Puiatti's acknowledgments that they had been advised of their rights and were under no threats or inducements.

Appellant and Mr. Puiatti were indicted by a Pasco County Grand Jury and tried before the Circuit Court, Sixth Circuit. On Friday, March 23, 1984, the jury found both men guilty of murder in the first degree, of kidnapping and of robbery with a firearm (R268-271, 2105-2108). On Saturday, March 24, 1984, the court

and jury convened for the penalty phase of the trial and received evidence in mitigation (R2118-2381). This included testimony of a psychiatrist and another psychologist who had examined Mr. Puiatti (R2143-2228, 2324-2350). The court reconvened on the afternoon of Sunday, March 25, 1984 when counsel delivered closing arguments regarding the penatly phase of the trial. The court charged the jury as to the penalty phase and the jury returned a recommendation that the death penalty be imposed (R272-275, 2383-2459). A pre-sentence investigation report was ordered (R276) and on May 4, 1984, both men were sentenced to death for the murder of Mrs. Richie. (R292).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following the arrest of Appellant and his voluntary return to Florida, a special public defender was appointed, Robert Trogolo, who promptly moved to have grand jury proceedings reported. The motion was denied as was a motion to set bond. The Grand Jury indicted Appellant for first degree murder (R4-18).

Discovery was demanded and received and Appellant's counsel filed a series of motions: for payment of psychiatrist's fees, for daily trial transcript, to limit voir dire and preclude certain challenges, for notification whether the State intended to seek the death penalty, for bill of particulars as to agrivating circumstances, and for inspection of the list of witnesses before the Grand Jury. There was also a demurrer to the indictment, and a series of motions to dismiss it or alternately to strike the death penalty from consideration. (R22-86).

An adversary preliminary hearing was held on October 27, 1983 (R90-91, 2622-2683) after which Appellant was bound over to the Sheriff's custody (R87). A plea of Not Guilty entered the following day. Time was reserved for the filing of additional preliminary motions. A motion by the State, to require defense counsel to coordinate depositions, was denied (R92-95).

Appellent's counsel filed motions for production of police reports, for preservation of evidence and for disclosure of certain types of information pursuant to Brady vs Maryland, for disclosure

of impeaching information, and for a list of the witnesses to be called by the State during the second phase of the bifurcated trial (R98-107). The State moved to quash certain subpoenas and for protective order. This last motion was heard November 18, 1983 and was granted only as to out of State law enforcement officials (R108-109).

On November 23, 1983, more motions were filed on Appellant's behalf. These were motions to compel certain discovery, for statement of particulars, for individual and confidential voir dire, for leave to propound certain questions during voir dire and for sequestration of the jury (Rll2-l25). Appellant's counsel additionally filed motions in limine to prohibit the State's Attorney from commenting upon pre-trial motions and rulings while in the jury's presence, from referring to which witnesses did or did not submit to polygraph examination (Rl26-l28). Appellant also moved for a continuance, which was granted (Rl43).

A motion for advancement of costs was responded to by the State formal objection. The State also moved that all matters brought before the court be so brought by written motion (R132-134).

On December 5, 1983, the court denied Appellant's demurrer and motions to dismiss the indictment. Also denied were the motions for notification whether the death penalty would be sought, for limitation of the State during voir dire and to preclude certain challenges. The motion for daily transcript was denied without prejudice. Defense motions for psychiatrist's fees, for police reports, for preservation of evidence for <u>Brady</u> materials for advancement of costs, and to compel records were

granted. The motion for a list of the State's penalty phase witnesses was granted with qualifications as was the motion for appointment of experts. Rulings on other motions were deferred (R135-136, 141-146, 319-337).

A motion was filed for payment of fees to a psychologist of Appellant's selection for assistance at sentencing. This was granted as was a second motion for continuance (R137-139, 143).

On February 23, 1984, a motion for severance was filed (R167-169). This motion was heard by the court below on March 2, 1984 (R567-617) and denied with an opinion (R178-180). Appellant's motion to supress (R171-174) with amendments (R182-186, 205-206) was also denied after a evidentiary hearing and extensive argument in March 1984 (R207-209, 338-703). Heard at the same time were a number of other motions including a just filed motion to empanel separate juries for each party of the bifurcated trial. This motion was denied along with motions to prohibit impeachment, to increase preemptory challenges and for sequestration and individual voir dire of the jury (R708-767). Other motions were granted or taken under advisement (R207-209, 338, 566).

The jury trial began Monday, March 19, 1984. The first three days were occupied with voir dire (R775-1622). Opening arguments (R1638-1661) and most of the State's witnesses (R1661-1882) were heard on Thursday. On Friday, March 23, motions for mistrial, were heard and denied (R1883-1885). Following testimony of the State's last witnesses (R1887-1895) the motion to sever was again renewed and denied. The joint confession of Appellant and Mr. Puiatti was read into the record (over objection) by the

court reporter who had transcribed it (R1895-1944). At this point, the State rested (R1949).

Appellant moved for acquittal and also renewed motions for severance (R1902-2006). The motions were denied and the case proceeded to final argument, no witnesses being called by the defense. Appellant's attorney spoke first, then counsel for Mr. Puiatti, then the State, then Puiatti and finally Appellant (R2012-2065). The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all three charges (R270, 2105-2109). In anticipation of the second phase of the trial, motions for sequestration of the jury were renewed along with motions to sever (R2110-2113). The motions were again denied.

On Saturday, March 24, the court convened for the penalty phase of the bifurcated trial. The State presented no evidence in aggrivation, relying upon the facts as set forth during the trial. The defense presented a number of witnesses (R2143-2313). Relatives of Appellant testified as to his traumatic childhood and Dr. Gerald Mussenden provided expert testimony as to Appellant's psychological condition. Mr. Puiatti also had witnesses to testify as to his background as well as a psychiatrist and a psychologist. Dr. Mussenden's expert opinion was that Appellant is easily dominated by others (R2250, 2260). Mr. Puiatti's psychiatrist and psychologist experienced a similar opinion about him (R2170-2174, 2346).

At the latter part of the day, the court held a conference on the jury instructions and announced that it would recess until the afternoon of the following day (R2357-2381).

On Sunday, March 25, 1984, during daylight hours, the court reconvened (R228, 2385; A) briefly discussed jury instructions with counsel and proceeded to closing argument as to penalty (R2388-2441). The jury was charged by court (2442-2450) and proceeded to deliberate upon whether to impose the death penalty. By a vote of eleven to one, the jury returned an advisory verdict of death (R271, 2451-2452). The jury was then discharged (R2456-2457). At the request of counsel, a pre-sentence investigation was ordered and the case set for sentencing in April (R276, 2457-2459). The court then adjourned (R228, 2459; A).

On April 11, 1984, the court heard the State's motions to strike defense motions for new trial and for acquittal.

Also in April, the court denied defense motions for new trial and for acquittal. On May 16, 1984 it issued its order setting out findings (R301-311) in support of the death sentence which had been imposed on May 14, 1984 (R284-292, 2556-2620).

The court concluded that agrivating circumstances existed: that the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest, that it was committed for pecuniary gain and that it was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R301-303; A). The court also found a statutory mitigating circumstance in Appellant's case in that he had no significant prior criminal record. In finding that neither defendant acted under the substantial domination of another, the court observed that each psychologist testified that the defendant he had examined was dominated by the other. The court concluded that the psychologist's

opinions in this matter were "devoid of credibility" (R305, A7). The court also declined to find the two men's ages to be significant despite psychologist's testimony that they "function at about 10-12 years of age" (R307, A9). The court did consider nonstatutory mitigatory factors in favor of both Appellant and Mr. Puiatti in that they both confessed and both showed signs of being capable of rehabilitation. It declined to give these factors the weight of mitigating circumstances, however (R307-308, A10-11).

This appeal timely followed.

Appellant concedes that the guilt phase of the trial was conducted in accordance with Florida law as set forth in the various decisions cited in the record by the court below. In making this concession, Appellant would reserve the right to join in any argument made in the companion case, <u>Puiatti versus</u> <u>the State of Florida</u> based upon matters overlooked or misunderstood by Appellant's Appeal counsel.

The issues on this appeal are concerned with the propriety of imposing the death sentence, Appellant having repeatedly confessed his guilt in the murder of Mrs. Richie. The issues are whether the law and the facts of this case required severance of defendants during the penalty phase of the trial and whether the advisory verdict recommending Appellant's execution is valid, having been reached during judicial proceedings conducted during daylight hours of a non-juridicial day.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. WHETHER DENIAL OF SEVERANCE CONSTITUTED ERROR WHERE CO-DEFENDANTS IN A CAPITAL CASE EACH PRESENT EVIDENCE OF SUBSTANTIAL DOMINATION BY THE OTHER AS A FACTOR IN MITIGATION?
- II. WHETHER JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS CONDUCTED ON A NONJURIDICAL DAY ARE VALID?

QUESTION: WHETHER DENIAL OF SEVERANCE CONSTITUTED ERROR WHERE CO-DEFENDANTS IN A CAPITAL CASE EACH PRESENTEVIDENCE OF SUBSTANTIAL DOMINATION BY ANOTHER AS A FACTOR IN MITIGATION?

ARGUMENT

After the jury had rendered its verdicts of guilty in the court below, Appellant's counsel again renewed his motion to sever (R2113). In denying this motion, the court below observed

> "I gave that very serious consideration when it was first brought to the consideration of the court, I'm even more convinced after the trial than I was at the time that severance is not necessary to afford both defendants a fair trial and I don't see anything that would cause any difference in the penalty phase" (R2114)

The argument on this renewed motion raised the prospect of each defendant "facing an accuser other than the State" and Appellant's counsel specifically suggested the mitigating factor of "substantial domination by another" under Chapter 921.141 (6) (e) Florida Statutes, as the area wherein the co-defendants' respective interests would become so opposed as to require severance.

While there appear to be no cases other than <u>Hargrave vs</u> <u>State</u> (Fla 1979) 366 So2d 1 dealing directly with the question of severance on a basis of opposed and conflicting mitigating circumstances under Chapter 921.141, there are certain general and basic principles which would apply.

Severance at the sentencing phase of a bifurcated trial would, as at the guilt determination phase, be a matter within the sound discretion of the court, and, as Justice Thornal of this court observed:

"His decision will not be disturbed absent a showing of abuse of discretion or some significant resultant damage to the defendant who seeks a separate trial." <u>Roberts v State</u> (Fla 1964) 164 So2d 817, see also Manson v State (Fla 1956) 84 So2d 272

The rule has long been recognized that antagonistic defenses justify a severance unless the record shows lack of injury. Suarez v State (Fla 1928) 115 So 519.

This court observed in <u>State v Dixon</u> 238 So2d 1 that the legislative intent behind Chapter 921.141, Florida Statutes was that the death penalty be imposed "only for the most aggrivated, the most indefensible of crimes" and in this regard, the sole purpose of establishing a separate penalty hearing was "to provide the convicted defendant with one final hearing before death is imposed." At this second hearing, the State continues to bear the burden of proving aggrivating circumstnaces beyond a reasonable doubt, but the defendant is given opportunity to introduce any mitigating circumstances with probative value, regardless of admissibility under ordinary rules of evidence. Dixon (supra) Chapter 921.141 (1) Florida Statutes.

Consideration of aggrivating factors is strictly limited to those factors set forth in the Statute <u>Menendez v State</u> (Fla 1979) 368 So2d 1278, <u>Miller v State</u> (Fla 1979) 373 So2d 882. Mitigating factors, however, are not regarded with the same restriction and the court below correctly considered defense argument in favor of certain non-statutory mitigating factors (R307-308, A9-11).

The case here considered differs dramatically from <u>Hargrave</u> (supra) in that there was no testimony from a psychiatrist or psychologist who had examined both defendants. Instead, the court and jury below appear to have used expert testimony that Mr. Puiatti was dominated by Appellant to balance and cancel expert testimony that Appellant was dominated by Mr. Puiatti (R307-308, A 7). The case here appealed is also distinguished from <u>Stevens vs State</u> (Fla 1982) 419 So2d 1058 where there was an admission by Stevens to his court appointed psychiatrist that the robbery and kidnapping and the mutilation of the victim's corpse had been his idea.

The significance of the court below having rejected the mitigating factor of substantial domination in the absence of an expert who had examined both co-defendants is enhanced by the fact that the court found Appellant to have no significant prior criminal activity (R304, A6). In Dixon (supra) this court held

"...the less criminal activity on the defendant's record, the more consideration should be afforded this mitigating circumstance."

The statute does not comprehend a mere tabulation of agrivating circumstances against mitigating ones <u>Dixon</u> (supra) <u>Hargrave</u> (supra). Hence, where Appellant was found to have no significant record of prior criminal conduct, the use of testimony of experts who had not examined Appellant as a factor to contradict expert testimony that Appellant was dominated by another person is clearly an error which carried substantial injury to Appellant.

The court below did not instruct the jury not to consider Mr. Puiatti's expert testimony with regard to Appellant and, even had such insturction been given, it would not have cured the error. Everett vs U. S. 281 F2d 429, <u>Reddick v State</u> (2 DCA 1966) 190 So2d 340.

Questions regarding severance are generally tied to the right to confront and cross examine witnesses <u>Proffitt vs</u> <u>Wainwright</u> 685 F2d 1227. In the case here considered, each co-defendant's counsel was able to cross examine the other's witnesses, but as to the question of whether one co-defendant substantially dominated the other, the right to cross-examine a witness whose testimony would be held against a defendant was substantially diminished by the fact that no expert testifying as to domination had examined both defendants. Appellant suggests that this clearly violates the standards set forth in <u>Bruton vs</u> <u>United States</u> 391 US 123, 20 L ed 2d 476, 88 S. Ct. 1620.

Cases involving the death sentence are regarded with closer scrutiny than other cases, with presumptions against the propriety of death. As Justice Brennan of the U. S. Supreme Court observed in Furman vs Georgia 480 U S 238, 33 L ed 2d 346, 92 S. Ct. 2726.

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