IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAY 24 1985

CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Glerk

ROBERT GLOCK,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 65,380

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. The lower court did not err in denying a severance at the penalty phase as there was no confusing or improper evidence submitted to the jury and the appellant had the opportunity to confront and cross-examine fully the witnesses. Additionally the two defendants did not argue to the jury that each defendant was under the substantial domination of another. The testimony would not have supported such a finding.
- II. No error was committed in the trial court's instructing the jury and receiving their recommendation on a Sunday. Rule 3.540, Rules of Criminal Procedure. Moreover, appellant's failure to object below precludes consideration for the first time in the appellate court.
- III. The lower court did not err in its refusal to impanel two juries. The <u>Grigsby</u> issue has been rejected by this Court in <u>Caruthers v. State</u>, __ So.2d __ 10 F.L.W. 114 and other federal appellate courts.
- IV. The lower court correctly found that the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. The murderers were methodic in their continued return and pursuit of the victim until death ensued.
- V. The lower court correctly declined to find appellant's confession and potential for rehabilitation as mitigating factors. Appellant merely is disagreeing with the weight the trial court attributed to the evidence.

POINT I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN DE-NYING A SEVERANCE WHERE ALLEGEDLY EACH DEFENDANT AT THE PENALTY PHASE PRESENTED EVIDENCE OF SUB-STANTIAL DOMINATION BY ANOTHER.

ARGUMENT

Appellant argues that the court below erred reversibly in failing to grant a severance at the penalty phase of the trial because each defendant allegedly presented evidence that he was under the substantial domination of another. Hostility among defendants nor attempting to shift the blame from one defendant to another does not suffice for the granting of a severance. McCray v. State, 416 So.2d 804 (Fla. 1982) Repeatedly, this court has held:

"The object of the [severance] rule is not to provide defendants with an absolute right, upon request, to separate trials when they blame each other for the crime. Rat her, the rule is designed to assure a fair determination of each defendant's guilt or innocence. This fair determination may be achieved when all the relevant evidence regarding the criminal offense is presented in such a manner that the jury can distinguish the evidence relating to each defendant's acts, conduct, and statements, and can then apply the law intelligently and without confusion to determine the individual defendant's guilt or innocence. The rule allows the trial court, in its discretion, to grant severance when the jury could be confused or improperly influenced by evidence which applies to only one of several defendants."

McCray, supra, at 806; O'Callaghan v. State, 429 So.2d 691, at 695 (Fla. 1983). There was no confusing or improper evidence submitted to the jury and appellant had the opportunity to confront and cross-examine fully the witnesses.

A review of the penalty phase of the trial would be helpful.

Dr. Delbeato testified at the penalty phase for co-defendant Puiatti. (R 2143) A psychologist Delbeato opined that Puiatti had an emotionally unstable syndrome, an alleged inability to sometimes deal with stress. (R 2158) There was a dysfunction to the right hemisphere of the brain although his memory and information recall were normal. (R 2159) The dysfunction would affect his susceptibility to manipulation by another person. (R 2170) He believed anybody would be under stress to perform such a crime and Puiatti would have been more easily dominated by another individual. 2172) Most people are more easily influenced when under stress, Delbeato never examined appellant Glock and there would be a relationship between a person who influences another and the influenced person. (R 2178) Puiatti's state of mind was such that it was possible he could have been influenced and the witness could not answer yes or no that Puiatti was under the substantial domination of another person. (R 2216 - 2217)

Testifying for appellant Glock, psychologist Mussenden opined that Glock is somewhat easily influenced and could certainly be exploited (R 2250) and not as prone to be as destructive towards others. (R 2258) The two defendants may have been able to support each other because of their deficiencies. (R 2261) The facts of the crime had not been related to Mussenden. (R 2262 - 2263) His prior opinion was a contradiction to the facts of the case. (R 2263) Mussenden never examined Puiatti. (R 2270)

Testifying for Puiatti, Dr. Meadows described the possibility of brain damage (R 2328, 2330, 2332, 2335) and opined that Puiatti was under the substantial domination of another person. (R 2346)

Meadows had not seen any psychological testing of Glock. (R 2349)

In argument to the jury at the penalty phase, Glock argued <u>not</u> that there was substantial domination of Glock but the mixing of the defendants' personalities was a mitigating factor. (R 2414 - 2415) Puiatti did <u>not</u> even argue the alleged presence of the mitigating factor of substantial domination by another. (R 2422 - 2441) Again at the subsequent sentencing hearing Puiatti did <u>not</u> argue substantial domination of another as a present mitigating factor. (R 2589 - 2600)

Thus, the record clearly demonstrates the absence of merit to Glock's contention. Neither Glock (R 2414 - 2415) nor Puiatti (R 2422 - 2444) attempted to have the jury believe that he was under the substantial domination of another (although Glock did argue that the mixing of the two personalites should be deemed a mitigating factor) It is understandable that the argument was not advanced based on the paucity of supporting evidence. Dr. Delbeato, for Puiatti, could not answer yes or no that Puiatti was under the substantial domination of another person. (R 2216 - 2217) and Dr. Meadows had not done any psychological testing of Glock. (R 2349) On behalf of Glock, Dr. Mussenden's testimony was considerably shaken by his admission that the facts of the case had not been related to him and his concession that his prior expressed opinion was a contradiction to the facts of the case. (R 2263)

The jury was not unduly confused and could attribute the appropriate value to the testimony submitted by each defendant.

Glock suggests that there has been a violation of <u>Bruton v.</u>
United States, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476. We ask how. Bruton

dealt with the admissibility of a confession of a co-defendant implicating the defendant where the confessor did not testify. Since there was no way to cross-examine the one who confessed and implicated the other resulting in a devastating impact on the jury the evidence was inadmissible. In the instant case, each expert was subject to cross-examination to explain the bases for their opinions. If appellant is complaining that no expert examined both defendants and that such testimony was weak, that certainly did not inhibit him from utilizing the testimony of Dr. Mussenden who did not examine co-defendant Puiatti. (R 2270) Under Glock's analysis, even had there been a severance, Mussenden's testimony would be diminished by the fact that he had examined only Glock and not Puiatti. The fact remains that to a more than adequate extent each expert was fully subject to cross-examination as to the basis for his opinion. There simply is no Bruton problem.

POINT II

WHETHER REVERSIBLE ERROR APPEARS IN THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE PENALTY PHASE AND RECEIVING THEIR RECOMMENDATION ON A SUNDAY.

ARGUMENT

First of all, appellant cannot complain of this issue initially on appeal since there was no objecton below to the proceedings on Sunday. (R 2385 - 2459) Ergo, the issue has not been preserved for appellate review. See Rule 3.570 Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Secondly, even if properly preserved, the point is meritless. While a judgment and sentence entered on a Sunday may be void - <u>Higginbotham v. State</u>, 101 So. 233 (1924) - a verdict may be rendered by a jury and additional or corrective instructions may be given on any day including Sunday. Rule 3.540, Rules of Criminal Procedure. <u>Hodge v. State</u>, 10 So. 556 (1892); 49 Fla. Jur. 2d, Sundays and Holidays, §10.

Since the judgment and sentence was not imposed on a Sunday, (R 285 - 290) no reversible error appears in the court's penalty phase instructions and receipt of the jury's penalty recommendation on that date.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE EXCLUSION OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS OPPOSED TO THE DEATH PENALTY WAS ERROR.

ARGUMENT

The lower court did not err in refusing to impanel two juries.

Appellant's reliance Grigsby v. Mabry, __ F.2d __ is to no avail as Grigsby has been rejected. See Wainwright v. Witt, __ U.S. __, __ L.Ed.2d 841 Witt v. Wainwright, __ U.S. __, 36 Cr.L. 4227; Caruthers v. State, __ So.2d __, 10 F.L.W. 114; Copeland v. State, 457 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 1984) Gafford v. State, 387 So2d 333 (Fla. 1980); Witt v. State, __ So.2d __, 10 F.L.W. 148. See also, McCleskey v. Kemp, 753 F.2d 877 (11th Cir. 1985); Smith v. Balkcom, 660 F.2d 573 (5th Cir. Unit B 1980); Spinkellink v. Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582 (5th Cir. 1978); Keeton v. Garrison, 742 F.2d 129 (4th Cir. 1984); Witt v. Wainwright, 755 F.2d 1396 (11th Cir. 1985)

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING AS AN AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT THE HOMICIDE WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

ARGUMENT

The lower court supported this finding with the observation that according to their statements the two defendants calmly discussed killing Mrs. Richie; that after determining that killing was appropriate, Puiatti turned the car around, drove up to victim Richie, shot her and drove on. The defendants watched her carefully; when she did not fall down Puiatti turned the car around and again drove by the victim, shooting her and driving by. They again watched Mrs. Richie carefully and when she again did not fall down Appellant again turned the car around and again drove by Mrs. Richie. time co-defendant Glock took the firearm from Puiatti and shot Mrs. Richie. The victim fell and the two defendants, satisfied she was dead, drove north in her stolen automobile. Not only was there a cold and premeditated decision to murder, but they kept returning to shoot her again when initial efforts appeared to have failed. defendants did not attempt to rationalize that the victim had wronged them, failed to accede to their demands or for any reason deserved to be killed. There was no pretense of moral or legal justification; they simply reasoned she could not identify them if she died, but could if she lived. (R 303)

Appellant does not challenge these findings by the trial court; instead he argues that the statutory factor of cold, calculated and premeditated murder without moral justification is not demonstrated because the homicide was not planned long in advance. But

Appellant's interpretation is too limited. While the length of time of initially planning the homicide is significant, so also is the length and breadth of the conduct in effectuating it. As stated in Preston v. State, 444 So.2d 939 at 946 (Fla. 1984):

"This aggravating circumstance has been found when the facts show a particularly lengthy, methodic, or involved series of atrocious events or a substantial period of reflection and thought by the perpetrator.

(emphasis supplied)

This Court has upheld this aggravating factor where the killer has stalked his victim pursuing him into underbrushes to accomplish his mission. See Mills v. State, __ So.2d __, 10 F.L.W. 45.

The instant case is no different. When Appellant and his companion decided to kill their kidnap victim, they drove back and shot her; they watched and when she did not collapse they turned the car around, returned and shot her again; and yet on a third occasion, Puiatti returned to have Glock fire the third volley into the victim. Such a cold, calculated, ruthless homicide far exceeded the "normal" premeditation. See also Middleton v. State, 426 So.2d 548 (Fla. 19820 (defendant confessed he sat with a shotgun in his hands for an hour looking at the victim as she slept and thinking about killing her); Davis v. State, So.2d , 9 F.L.W. 430 (defendant entered home armed with a pistol and rope used to bind one of the victims); Stano v. State, So.2d , 9 F.L.W. 475 (cold and calculating finding upheld where defendant drove to isolated areas and after ordering victims to leave the car strangled one and shot the other); Troedel v. State, So.2d , 9 F.L.W. 511 (cold and calculated finding upheld where the defendant wielded one of the

murder weapons and shared in the premeditated intent to kill two victims according to a pre-arranged plan); Johnson v. State, ____ So.2d ___, 10 F.L.W. 123 (when victim escaped from car, defendant chased her, caught her again and had to resume strangulation three times to make sure she was dead); Burr v. State, ___ So.2d ___, 10 F.L.W. 126 (defendant shot victim at a convenience store); Smith v. State, 424 So.d 726 (factor found in a rape-murder); Clark v. State, 443 So.2d 973 (5(i) found in the shooting of a defenseless elderly woman); Card v. State, 453 So.2d 17 (ample time for reflection as to the consequences found in the murder of the victim at the secluded area); Kennedy v. State, 455 So.d 351 (5(i) found in a killing following a brief gun battle); Thomas v. State, 456 So2.d 454 (factor found when victim brutally beaten to death).

Appellee notes that the trial judge found the existence of aggravating factors 921.141(5)(e) - a murder to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest (see Fitzpatrick v. State, 437 So.2d 1072; Lightbourne v. State, 438 So.2d 380), 5(f) capital felony committed for pecuniary gain, neither of which Appellant challenges. Additionally, the trial judge declined to find aggravating factors 5(a) homicide committed in the commission of a robbery or kidnapping and 5(b) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel only because it perceived the facts supporting these factors were used to determine the other found factors in aggravation (R 303 - 304)

In light of the multiple factors in aggravation, this court should affirm.

POINT V

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THE DEFENDANT'S CONFESSIONS AND HIS POTENTIAL FOR REHABILITATION AS MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

ARGUMENT

No argument can be advanced that the trial court did not consider the confessions and the potential for rehabilitation; the order reflects the court's consideration of it. (R 307 - 308)

"Both defendants argued that this court should consider their confessions as a non-statutory factor. This request was troubling to this court. Those confessions probably did make this case easier to prosecute . . .

- . . . This court is convinced that both of these defendants hoped they would be spared a death sentence by confessing . . .
- . . . This court must admit that it did weigh the fact of the confessions favorable to the defendants in reaching its judgment to sentence these defendants to death, but does not believe their confessions should be counted as a mitigating factor.

There was expert testimony indicating that both of these defendants were capable of rehabilitation. This court also considered this factor in the defendants' favor, but again does not believe it should rise to the level of a mitigating factor."

Essentially, appellant disagrees with the weight attached to the evidence by the sentencing judge. He may not prevail unless he demonstrates a palpable abuse of discretion. See Smith v. State, 407 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1981); Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1979); Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979); Hitchcock v. State, 413 So.2d 741 (Fla. 1982); Michael v. State, 437 So.2d 138 (Fla. 1983); Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1983); Daugherty v. State, 419 So.2d (Fla. 1984); White v. State, 446 So.2d 1031

(Fla. 1984); <u>Pope v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1983); <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 436 So.d 908 (Fla. 1983); <u>Fitzpatrick v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1983).

Appellant is not aided by McCampbell v. State, 421 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1982); that was a jury override case and pursuant to Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975) the court was looking to factors presented which may have motivated the life recommendation. Appellant also cites Washington v. State, 62 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1978) but that case supports the state. There the mitigating factor of surrendering to authorities and confessing was deemed properly not found; the defendant did not surrender until his accomplices were apprehended and he knew he was sought by police (similarly in the instant case the confessions occurred after appellant was apprehended in possession of the murder weapon and the victim's property). This court in Washington refused to speculate what the defendant's conduct might have been had he not been the focus of suspicion:

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